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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -X 
JIN GUO KE and DAI YONG YANG,  
                                                                                                                   COMPLAINT 
                                                        Plaintiffs, 
                                                                                                                   
                           - versus - 
                                                                                                                   ECF CASE 
JUBAO HOUSE INC., LAI YUN INC., YUN CAI 
BROTHER INC., YUN JIE YANG, YUN FENG YANG,  
AH JIN YANG, and BEN RUAN YANG, 
 
                                                        Defendants. 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - X  
 
 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 
 

1. Plaintiffs are or were take-out food delivery workers for a sushi restaurant owned 

and operated by Defendants located at 63A Reade Street in New York, New York.  Plaintiffs 

have worked for Defendants at various times between 2011 and the present.   

2. Defendant corporations do or did business as “Hamachi Sushi” and “Okami 

Fusion Sushi & Asian Cuisine” restaurant at the same address.  The exterior of the premises 

contains both names, and each restaurant has a website with the same menu items and phone 

numbers.  Because the Defendant corporations primarily do business as Hamachi Sushi, the 

restaurant will hereinafter be referred to collectively as “Hamachi Sushi.” 

3. Throughout the course of their employment, Plaintiffs’ wages fell below the legal 

minimum wage as required by federal and state law.  Defendants also “fined” the Plaintiffs when 

dissatisfied with their delivery service, effectively taking some of their tips earned that day and 

further reducing their wages.  Additionally, Plaintiffs worked more than 40 hours per week and 

were never paid their proper overtime pay, nor were they paid “spread-of-hours” pay as required 

under New York Labor Law. 
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4. Plaintiffs bring this action to obtain their lawful minimum wages, including 

overtime wages and spread-of-hours wages. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ federal claims pursuant 

to the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. § 216 and 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337.  

6. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law claims pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

7. Venue is proper in the Southern District of New York pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b)(1) in that at least one defendant resides in the district.  

PARTIES 

PLAINTIFFS 

8. Plaintiff Dai Yong Yang was employed as a delivery worker at the Hamachi 

Sushi restaurant from on or about February 10, 2013 until on or about February 1, 2014. 

9. Plaintiff Jin Guo Ke has been employed as a delivery worker at the Hamachi 

Sushi restaurant from on or about August 1, 2011 until the present. 

10. In this complaint, the names of the plaintiffs and defendants who have Chinese 

names are written with their family names last, even though in China family names are written 

and spoken first. 

11. Plaintiffs are engaged in commerce.  On information and belief, Plaintiffs used 

materials during the course of their delivery service, such as soy sauce from Japan, that traveled 

in interstate commerce.  All employees at the Hamachi Sushi restaurant are engaged in an 

industry affecting commerce. 
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12. At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiffs were Defendants’ employees within 

the meaning of the Fair Labor Standards Act and New York Labor Law. 

DEFENDANTS 

13. Defendant Jubao House Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the 

laws of the State of New York, incorporated on May 20, 2015.  It does business as the Hamachi 

Sushi and/or Okami Fushion Sushi & Asian Cuisine restaurant located at 63A Reade Street in 

New York, New York.   

14. Defendant Lai Yun Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of 

the State of New York, incorporated on May 14, 2013.  It did business as the Hamachi Sushi 

and/or Okami Fushion Sushi & Asian Cuisine restaurant located at 63A Reade Street in New 

York, New York.   

15. Defendant Yun Cai Brother Inc. was a corporation organized and existing under 

the laws of the State of New York, incorporated on April 1, 2011.  It did business as the Hamachi 

Sushi and/or Okami Fushion Sushi & Asian Cuisine restaurant located at 63A Reade Street in 

New York, New York.  The corporation was dissolved on September 15, 2014.  

16. Defendants are an enterprise individually and collectively engaged in interstate 

commerce within the meaning of the FLSA in that the restaurant (i) has employees engaged in 

commerce or the production of goods for commerce and handling, selling or otherwise working 

on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce by any person; and (ii) 

has an annual gross volume of sales of not less than $500,000.  On information and belief, 

defendant corporations use and sell standard food products, such as soy sauce from Japan, that 

have been moved in interstate commerce.  Plaintiffs additionally estimate, based on knowledge 
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of their delivery loads and other workers’ delivery loads, that the restaurant’s annual gross 

volume of sales has been over $500,000 in each year from 2011 to the present.  

17. Defendant Yun Jie Yang (phonetic spelling), on information and belief, is an 

owner and operator of the Hamachi Sushi restaurant.  He is generally referred to as the Plaintiffs’ 

primary boss.  He is the Plaintiffs’ employer who had the power to hire and fire restaurant 

personnel, including Plaintiffs; determine the rate and method of compensation provided to 

restaurant personnel, including Plaintiffs; and manage and supervise restaurant personnel, 

including Plaintiffs.  On information and belief, this Defendant was also responsible for 

maintaining employment records.  Defendant Yun Jie Yang himself hired both Plaintiffs, and 

fired Plantiff Dai Yong Yang in February 2014.  He also manages and supervises Plaintiffs and 

other restaurant personnel, setting work schedules and directing deliveries, and making 

deductions or “fines” from Plaintiffs’ paychecks.  

18. Defendant Yun Feng Yang (phonetic spelling), on information and belief, is an 

owner and operator of the Hamachi Sushi restaurant and the brother of Defendant Yun Jie Yang.  

He manages and supervises the in-house and delivery personnel at the restaurant, including 

Plaintiffs.  He is responsible for setting Plaintiffs’ work schedules and directing deliveries on a 

day-to-day basis, and takes deductions out of Plaintiffs’ and other delivery workers’ paychecks 

when customers are dissatisfied with the delivery service. 

19. Defendant Ah Jin Yang (phonetic spelling), on information and belief, is an 

owner and operator of the Hamachi Sushi restaurant and the cousin of Defendants Yun Jie Yang 

and Yun Feng Yang.  He is also responsible for managing and supervising the in-house and 

delivery personnel at the restaurant, including Plaintiffs.  He is responsible for setting Plaintiffs’ 

work schedules and directing deliveries on a day-to-day basis, and takes deductions out of 
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Plaintiffs’ and other delivery workers’ paychecks when customers are dissatisfied with the 

delivery service.  He pays the individual workers, including Plaintiffs, by cash and check.  

20. Defendant Ben Ruan Yang (phonetic spelling), on information and belief, was an 

owner and operator of the Hamachi Sushi restaurant and a relative of the other three defendants.  

He was responsible for managing and supervising the in-house and delivery personnel at the 

restaurant, including Plaintiffs.  He was responsible for setting work Plaintiffs’ schedules and 

directing deliveries on a day-to-day basis, and took deductions out of Plaintiffs’ and other 

delivery workers’ paychecks when customers are dissatisfied with the delivery service.  He also 

directly paid the individual workers, including Plaintiffs.  On information and belief, he left the 

restaurant and on or about April 30, 2015, and is no longer an owner or operator.  

21. At all times relevant to this action, Defendants were Plaintiffs’ employers as that 

term is defined by the FLSA and New York Labor Law.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

MINIMUM WAGE 

22. Both the federal Fair Labor Standards Act and New York Labor Law require that 

workers be paid a minimum wage.  29 U.S.C. § 206; N.Y. Lab. §652, 12 NYCRR § 146 – 1.2. 

23. As is more fully described below, Defendants have not satisfied the required 

conditions to legally take a tip credit.  Therefore, Plaintiffs are entitled to the full minimum 

wage.  

24. Plaintiff Jin Guo Ke worked full and half-day shifts as a delivery worker from 

August 1, 2011 to the present.  He started working seven day work weeks, with five full work 

days from 11:00 AM to 11:00 PM, and a break between 3:00 PM and 4:45 PM on weekdays.  No 

work break was given to Plaintiffs on weekends.  He worked two half days, from 5:30 PM to 
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11:00 PM, on varying days of the week.  Plaintiff Jin Guo Ke began working four days per week 

on or about June 1, 2015; three days per week on or about August 1, 2015; and two days per 

week as of November 2, 2015. 

25. Plaintiff Dai Yong Yang worked six full days per week as a delivery worker for 

the duration of his employment at the restaurant.  He was scheduled to work from 11:00 AM to 

11:00 PM, with a break between 3:00 PM and 4:45 PM on weekdays, and no break on weekends.  

Often, this Plaintiff worked later than his scheduled hours, until 11:30 PM, and started his 

afternoon shift early, at 4:30 PM.  Plaintiff Dai Yong Yang had one weekday off per week, 

usually Thursday or Friday, but always worked Saturday and Sunday.  

26. Plaintiffs were provided lunch by the restaurant at 3 PM, to be eaten during their 

afternoon break, and dinner at 10 PM, without break time to eat. 

27. Plaintiffs were paid twice monthly by Defendants in the amount of $500, in cash 

or check.  These payments were delivered on the 1st and the 16th of each month.  Plaintiffs’ 

salaries were deducted by $33 per day if the restaurant was closed, or if Plaintiffs took a day off 

by working six days a week instead of seven.  Plaintiffs’ wages were also effectively reduced 

through “fines,” and in requiring Plaintiffs to purchase and maintain their own electric bikes. 

28.  Plaintiffs were paid less than the full minimum wage.  At the beginning of 

Plaintiff Jin Guo Ke’s employment in 2011, the full minimum wage in New York was $7.25 per 

hour.  By way of example, in half a month (15 days) of work where 7 days are full weekday 

work days (11:00 AM to 11:00 PM, 1.75 hours break), 4 days are half weekday work days (5:30 

PM to 11:00 PM), and 4 days are weekend work days (11:00 AM to 11:00 PM, no break), 

Plaintiff would be entitled to $1,027.69 in minimum wage payments alone using the 2011 

minimum wage, excluding all overtime and spread-of-hours pay.  The current minimum wage in 
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New York has since risen to $8.75.  At that rate, Plaintiff would be entitled to $1,240.31 in 

minimum wage alone in 15 working days as described above, excluding all overtime and spread-

of-hours pay.  The full minimum wage rate applies because, as described below, Plaintiffs cannot 

be treated as tipped employees under the FLSA and New York Labor Law. 

29. Defendants are not entitled to take a tip credit under the FLSA or New York 

Labor Law as they failed to notify any of the Plaintiffs in writing about the tip credit provisions 

of those laws.  29 U.S.C. § 203(m); 12 NYCRR § 146 – 1.3.  Defendants additionally failed to 

post any notifications at the Hamachi Sushi restaurant notifying workers about the minimum 

wage, overtime, or tip credit provisions of the FLSA or New York Labor Law.  

OVERTIME PAY 

30. Federal and New York Labor Law both require that Defendants pay an overtime 

rate of one-and-a-half times the regular rate of pay for each hour of work over 40 hours a week.  

29 U.S.C. § 207; N.Y. Lab. § 650 et seq., 12 NYCRR § 146 – 1.4.  

31. Plaintiffs regularly worked over 40 hours a week, except Plaintiff Jin Guo Ke 

after August 1, 2015, and at no time did Defendants pay Plaintiffs overtime wages. 

SPREAD OF HOURS 

32. New York State Department of Labor Regulations § 146-1.6 provides that, if an 

employee is at work for 10 hours per day, then the employer is required to pay the employee an 

extra hour of pay at the full minimum wage, as opposed to the tipped minimum wage.  12 

NYCRR § 146-1.6.  This “spread of hours” regulation is applicable even if there is a split shift. 

33. Plaintiffs routinely were at work, or were on a split shift of, more than ten hours 

per day for a spread of hours greater than ten hours. Defendants never paid Plaintiffs an extra 

hour’s pay at the minimum wage. 
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UNLAWFUL DEDUCTIONS 

34. The Fair Labor Standards Act prohibits employers from requiring minimum wage 

employees to purchase the tools of their trade or give any money back to his or her employer. 29 

U.S.C. § 201 et seq; 29 C.F.R. § 531.35. 

35. In addition, New York Labor Law prohibits any deductions from wages, other 

than standard deductions for taxes and Social Security, etc.  N.Y. Lab § 193.  The law expressly 

prohibits deductions for spoilage or breakage, deductions for customer non-payment, deductions 

for cash shortages, and fines or penalties for lateness or other misconduct.  12 NYCRR § 146-

2.7.  

36. Defendants required Plaintiff delivery workers to purchase and maintain an 

electric bicycle in order to make deliveries.  Plaintiffs had to pay for their own repairs.   

Defendants did not reimburse Plaintiffs for these costs. 

37. Plaintiff Dai Yong Yang purchased his electric bike at a cost of about $2,000, and 

spent about $700 during his employment to maintain it. 

38. Plaintiff Jin Guo Ke purchased his first electric bike at a cost of $1,500.  It was 

stolen during delivery service in late 2011 or early 2012.  He then purchased another bike, 

together with two batteries, at a cost of about $2,000, and spent $500-700 per year during his 

employment to maintain it. 

39. Defendants regularly “fined” the Plaintiffs.  Defendants fined Plaintiffs the full 

amount of the order if customers complained that an order was late or incorrect and refused to 

pay.  Defendants also fined Plaintiffs the full amount of the order if one of the bosses heard that 

an order was not received.  Plaintiffs had to give this money back to Defendants out of pocket.  

These deductions often amounted to $40-50, though sometimes could be more.  Plaintiff Jin Guo 
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Ke was once fined $230 for an order that he was unable to deliver after being trapped in an 

elevator.  

40. These deductions, fines, and cost of tools of the trade – namely, Plaintiffs’ bikes 

and maintenance costs – effectively reduced Plaintiffs’ wages even further below the minimum 

wage. 

41. Defendants also “fined” the Plaintiffs in the form of other punishments.  At times, 

Defendants did not allow Plaintiffs to take their scheduled afternoon break, or locked Plaintiffs 

out of the restaurant. 

EMPLOYEE NOTICE VIOLATIONS 

42. New York State Labor Law requires that employers provide their employees in 

writing at the time of hiring, in English and in the employees’ primary language, notice of the 

rate of pay, tip allowances, meal allowances, and other information pertinent to employment.  

N.Y. Labor Law § 195(1).   

43. New York State Labor Law also requires that, with every payment of wages, 

employers provide their employees with a statement indicating the rates of pay and basis thereof, 

deductions and allowances claimed as part of the minimum wage, the overtime rate of pay and 

overtime hours worked, and other information pertinent to employment.  N.Y. Labor Law § 

195(3) 

44. At no time during Plaintiffs’ employment with Defendants did they receive the 

two types of written statements required by law. 

KNOWING AND INTENTIONAL ACTS 

45. Defendants knowingly, willfully and intentionally committed the acts alleged 

herein. 
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46. Defendants knew that the nonpayment of minimum wage, overtime pay and 

spread-of-hours pay would financially injure Plaintiffs. 

47. Defendants never gave Plaintiffs the required United States Department of Labor 

and New York State Department of Labor notice regarding minimum wage, overtime pay and 

tips.  

48. Defendants knowingly and intentionally required Plaintiffs to pay “fines” out of 

pocket, further reducing their wages below the minimum wage. 

49. On information and belief, Defendants knowingly and intentionally failed to keep 

records to avoid liability. 

50. On information and belief, Defendants engaged in similar unlawful acts as prior 

corporate owners against previous employee-individuals, and were Defendants in prior litigation 

of a similar nature. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I 

Federal Minimum Wage and Overtime Violations 

51. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

52. Defendants willfully and intentionally failed to compensate Plaintiffs the 

applicable minimum hourly wage and to pay overtime for their hours over forty (40) hours per 

week in violation of 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. 

53. Defendants have willfully and intentionally failed to comply with the FLSA with 

respect to compensation of Plaintiffs. 
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54. Due to Defendants’ violations of the FLSA, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover from 

Defendants, jointly and severally, their unpaid minimum wages and unpaid overtime 

compensation and an equal amount in the form of liquidated damages, as well as reasonable 

attorneys’ fees and costs of the action, pursuant to the FLSA, all in an amount to be determined 

at trial.  29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

COUNT II 

New York State Minimum Wage, Overtime and “Spread-of-Hours” Violations 

55. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

56. Defendants willfully and intentionally failed to compensate Plaintiffs the 

applicable minimum hourly wage, including overtime pay and spread-of-hours pay, in violation 

of N.Y. Lab. Law § 650 et seq. and supporting regulations and orders of the New York State 

Department of Labor. 

57. Defendants have failed to make a good faith effort to comply with New York 

Labor Law with respect to compensation of Plaintiffs. 

58. Due to Defendants’ violations of New York Labor Law, Plaintiffs are entitled to 

recover from Defendants, jointly and severally, their unpaid minimum wages, unpaid overtime 

and “spread of hours” compensation, and liquidated damages and pre- and post-judgment 

interest, as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of the action, all in an amount to be 

determined at trial, pursuant to New York Labor Law.  N.Y. Lab. Law § 663. 

COUNT III 

New York State Unlawful Deductions 
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59. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

60. Defendants have taken unlawful deductions from Plaintiffs’ wages in violation of 

New York State Labor Law § 193. 

61. Defendants have failed to make a good faith effort to comply with the New York 

Labor Law with respect to compensation of Plaintiffs. 

62. Due to Defendants’ violations of New York Labor Law § 193, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to recover from Defendants, jointly and severally, an amount to be determined at trial 

together with costs and attorneys’ fees pursuant to New York Labor Law.  N.Y. Lab. Law § 198. 

COUNT IV 

New York State Notice to Employee Violation 

63. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

64. Defendants intentionally failed to provide written notice to employees of the rate 

of pay, tip allowances, and other pertinent employment information within ten business days of 

the beginning of their employment in violation of New York Labor Law § 195(1). 

65. Defendants intentionally failed to provide employees with a statement of the rate 

of pay, overtime rate of pay, hours worked, allowances taken, and other pertinent employment 

information upon receipt of their wages in violation of New York Labor Law § 195(3). 

66. Defendants have failed to make a good faith effort to comply with the New York 

Labor Law with respect to compensation of Plaintiffs. 

67. Due to Defendants’ violations of New York Labor Law § 195(1), Plaintiffs are 

entitled to recover from Defendants, jointly and severally, an amount to be determined at trial 
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together with costs and attorneys’ fees pursuant to New York Labor Law.  N.Y. Lab. Law § 198 

1-b. 

68. Due to Defendants’ violations of New York Labor Law § 195(3), Plaintiffs are 

entitled to recover from Defendants, jointly and severally, an amount to be determined at trial 

together with costs and attorneys’ fees pursuant to New York Labor Law.  N.Y. Lab. Law § 198 

1-d. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE Plaintiffs respectfully request that a judgment be granted as follows: 

(a) Declaring Defendants’ conduct complained of herein to be in violation 

of Plaintiffs’ rights under the FLSA and New York Labor Law; 

(b) Awarding Plaintiffs unpaid minimum wages and overtime compensation 

due under the FLSA and New York Labor Law; 

(c) Awarding Plaintiffs compensation for all “spread-of-hours” violations 

due under 12 NYCRR § 146-1.6; 

(d) Awarding Plaintiffs compensation for unlawful salary deductions in 

violation of N.Y. Lab. Law § 193; 

(e) Awarding Plaintiffs compensation for failure to provide notice and wage 

statements under N.Y. Lab. Law § 195; 

(f) Awarding Plaintiffs liquidated damages; 

(g) Awarding Plaintiffs pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; 

(h) Awarding Plaintiffs the costs of this action, together with reasonable 

attorneys’ fees; and 

(i) Awarding such other relief as this Court deems is just and proper. 
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Dated:  December 2, 2015 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

             s/__Kenneth Kimerling______                                       
Kenneth Kimerling 
Asian American Legal Defense and 
Education Fund 
99 Hudson Street, 12th Floor 
New York, New York 10013 
212-966-5932 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS 
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